1985

MARY HELEN OWEN, Plaintiff and Appellant,
vs. ROBERT JAMES OWEN, Defendant and
Respondent : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The issues presented by this Appeal are:

1. Is a divorce action an action in equity, pressing upon the Court the duty to do equity between the parties in accordance with the facts before the Court?
2. Did the Court abuse its discretion in the Judgment and Decree of Divorce ordered by the Court?
3. Is Plaintiff/Appellant entitled to recovery of the attorney fees paid by Plaintiff/Appellant to her trial attorney and for attorney fees on Appeal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action wherein the Plaintiff and Appellant, who was the Wife, brought an action for divorce as against

the Husband, who is the Defendant and Respondent. The Complaint for divorce was filed by Plaintiff and Appellant (Wife) with the aid and assistance of counsel, Frank M. Wells, Esq., and the Defendant and Respondent (Husband) appeared pro se. The Court granted a Decree of Divorce to the Wife.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Wife was intermarried to the Husband on September 9, 1966 (R 11a), and there was born as issue two (2) children, Robert, born October 19, 1975 and John, born December 22, 1977 (R 11b). As of the date of the Findings of Fact and Decree of Divorce of January 10, 1985, the parties had been Husband and Wife for a period of approximately eighteen and a half (18 1/2) years.

The Husband is employed by the United States Government and has a civil service rating of a GS11, alleging earnings of \$12.57 an hour at his employment at Hill Field, with monthly earnings in the amount of \$2,178.00. (TR 30)

The Wife is unemployed and states that she has no prospects of employment (TR 31). The parties have an equity in a home with admittedly a one-half (1/2) equity belonging to the Wife, but awarding possession of the home to the Husband, providing that the Wife and the two (2) minor children shall be the beneficiaries of the one-half (1/2)

equity of the Wife in the property, subject to receiving same upon the Husband's remarriage, his sale of the home, the youngest child obtaining the age of majority or cohabits (TR 33). The Court further awarded Wife half of an \$5,500.00 debt to be paid by the Wife and half to be paid by the Husband, and awarded to the Wife \$300.00 towards her attorney fees, with liability to the Wife to pay any additional fees charged by her attorney for his services (TR 35).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. An eighteen and a half (18 1/2) year marriage between a Husband and Wife, requires an equitable distribution of the retirement asset accumulated by the Husband during the course of the marriage, and is a property interest to be shared with the Wife.

2. A Court of equity may make an award not prayed for in the Complaint, such as a share in the retirement of the spouse and an equitable distribution of all assets acquired during the course of the marriage by the parties.

3. That where the children are awarded to the Wife and the home is awarded to the Husband, it is an abuse of discretion to not allow the vesting of the Wife's one-half (1/2) interest in the home until the Husband remarries, the youngest child is emancipated, the Husband determines when

the home shall be sold, if ever, or upon cohabitation of the Husband.

4. The failure to award alimony or attorney fees to a Wife who is unemployed and has no specific ability to obtain employment or maintain the standard of life which she had for the eighteen and a half (18 1/2) years of her marriage, which coupled with the failure to pay any of the equity of the home to the Wife, thereby placing the burden upon the State of Utah to support the Wife, together with the requirement that the unemployed Wife be required to pay part of the attorney's fees where the Decree of Divorce is granted to the Wife is a clear abuse of discretion.

5. That requiring the Husband, who is employed and has substantial earnings to be required to pay only one-half (1/2) of the debts of the marriage and leave the unemployed Wife with no cash assets, having liability for the one-half (1/2) of the marital debts is a clear abuse of discretion.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

A DIVORCE PROCEEDING IS AN EQUITABLE ACTION

It is submitted to this Honorable Court that in accordance with Rule 54(c)(1), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, as amended 1953 and as set forth in the case of Behrans vs. Raleigh Hills Hospital, Inc., 673 P.2d 1179, (Utah 1983),

that every final Judgment shall grant the relief to which the party in whose favor it is rendered is entitled, even if the party has not demanded such relief in the pleadings.

In the first instance, the Wife was represented by counsel, who upon undertaking the cause of action on behalf of a party seeking a Decree of Divorce, had a duty to obtain all of the facts pertinent to the cause of action which counsel was going to undertake, and counsel having alleged that the Husband and Wife were intermarried on September 9, 1966; (R 1) that there were two (2) minor children born as issue of the marriage and both of the children were of young and tender years; (R 1) that the Husband was employed at Hill Field and had a civil service rating of a GS11 (TR 30), and the Complaint being filed in December, 1984 establishing a marital relationship of the Husband and Wife for a period of eighteen (18) years, should have the knowledge and did have the duty to seek a share of the Husband's retirement on behalf of the Plaintiff and the two (2) minor children.

It is further submitted that a divorce proceeding is equitable, that it is the duty of the Court in an action in equity, and particularly in a divorce proceeding, to do equity between the parties. Wilson vs. Wilson, 5 Utah 2d 79, 296 P.2d 977, 5 Utah 2d 79 (Utah 1956)

At the time of the hearing before the Court, the Wife and Husband had been intermarried for a period of approximately eighteen and a half (18 1/2) years, and the Court having heard the testimony as evidenced in the eight (8) page reporter's transcript of the record before the Court, did set forth evidence before the Court of the term of the marriage and the employment of the Husband at a salary of \$12.57 an hour, which evidences an average monthly gross earnings of \$2,178.80 for the Husband with a GS11 rating at Hill Air Force Base. (TR 30)

It is submitted that the meager testimony contained in the transcript evidences the status of the parties as to employment, earnings and other factors determinative of a decision by a Court of equity, and that the Court, having knowledge of the years of marriage between the parties, the employment of the Husband, the inability of the Wife to find employment and being totally unemployed at the time of trial, and prior thereto was a red light to both the Court and to counsel on behalf of the Wife to invoke the effect of Rule 54(c)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which states that:

Every final Judgment shall grant the relief to which the party in whose favor it is rendered is entitled, even if the party has not demanded such relief in his pleadings.

See also Pope vs. Pope, 589 P.2d 752 (Utah 1978); Palombi vs. D. & C. Builders, 22 Utah 2nd 297, 452 P.2d 325 (1969).

Professor Moore stated in 6 J. Moore, W. Taggart and J. Wicker, Moore's Federal Practice, Section 54.60 at 1212-14 (Second Edition 1983):

**While under Rule 8(a)(3), every pleading setting forth a claim for relief should contain a demand for Judgment, this prayer for relief constituted no part of the pleader's cause of action; a pleading should not be dismissed for legal insufficiency unless it appears to be a certainty that the claimant is entitled to no relief, legal, equitable or maritime, under any state of facts which could be proved in support of the claim, irrespective of the prayer for relief; and except as to a Judgment by default, the prayer does not limit the relief, legal, equitable or maritime, which the Court may grant.

This Court held in English vs. English, 565 P.2d 409 (Utah 1977) that:

The trial Court, in a divorce action, has considerable latitude of discretion in adjusting financial and property interests. A party appealing therefrom has a burden to prove that there was a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law, resulting in substantial and prejudicial error; or the evidence clearly preponderated against the findings, or such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion.

This Court in Woodward vs. Woodward, 656 P.2d 431 (Utah 1982), upheld the lower Court in holding that the wife was

entitled to share in that portion of the benefits to which the rights accrued during the marriage and established a formula for distribution of such retirement benefits, where they cannot be ascertained with certainty at the time of the divorce proceedings.

In Kikkert vs. Kikkert, 177 N.J. Super., 471, 427 A.2d 76 (1981), the Court held:

The right to receive moneys in the future is unquestionably **an economic resource subject to equitable distribution based upon proper computation of its present dollar value.

This Court held in Woodward vs. Woodward, supra, that pension or retirement benefits are a form of deferred compensation by the employer. If the rights to these benefits are acquired during the marriage, then the Court must at least consider those benefits in making an equitable distribution of the marital assets.

The failure of counsel for Plaintiff and the Court to consider or award to the Wife a share in the retirement of the Husband where the parties have been married for eighteen and a half (18 1/2) years; the Husband makes in excess of \$2,100.00 a month and has obtained a civil service level at Hill Air Force Base of a GS11 (as has been stated and referenced hereinabove) is contrary to the judicial decisions of this Court, particularly as set forth in the Woodward vs.

Woodward, supra, as contrary to the holdings of this Court, wherein the Court stated:

Whether that resource is subject to distribution does not turn on whether the spouse can presently use or control it, or on whether the resource can be given a present dollar value. The essential criterion is whether a right to the benefit or asset has accrued in whole or in part during the marriage. To the extent of the right has so accrued, it is subject to equitable distribution.

POINT TWO

THE JUDGMENT OF THE LOWER COURT CONSTITUTED AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION BY THE COURT

In Wilson vs. Wilson, supra, this Court stated:

The Court's responsibility is to endeavor to provide a just and equitable adjustment of their economic resources so that the parties can reconstruct their lives on a happy and useful basis. In doing so, it is necessary for the Court to consider, in addition to the relative guilt or innocence of the parties, an appraisal of all of the attendant facts and circumstances: The duration of the marriage; the ages of the parties; their social positions and standards of living; their health; considerations relative to children; the money and property they possess and how it was acquired; their capabilities in training and their present and potential incomes.

See also Pinion vs. Pinion, 92 Utah 255, 67 P.2d 265 (1937);

MacDonald vs. MacDonald, 120 Utah 573, 236 P.2d 1066 (1951).

In the instant matter before the Court, in addition to the Court's failure to award the Wife any retirement funds of the Husband, despite the eighteen and a half (18 1/2) year marriage, (TR 30) the Lower Court denied alimony to the Wife even though she was unemployed at time of trial and had been so unemployed for a substantial period of time and testified that she had no particular skills or ability of which to earn a living. (TR 30)

The Court further evidenced its abuse of discretion in awarding the house to the Husband, despite the fact that the Wife was awarded the care and custody of the two (2) minor children, (TR 33-34) and to add insult to injury, the Court ruled, with the assistance of Wife's counsel, that the standard of the Court for the Wife obtaining her one-half (1/2) equity in the home will be as follows:

Mr. Wells: Well, I think that the standard of the Court would be in the event he remarries or sells his home or the youngest child obtains the age of majority unless he's obviously able to take out a second mortgage to satisfy the equity lien.

The Court: Or cohabits, usually have that in it. What else? The youngest child is how old now?

The Witness: Nine (9). (TR 33)

In addition, no proof was presented to the Court of the actual wages made by the Husband, and a guess was made as to

the husband's gross wages and child support in accordance with the Uniform Child Support Schedule which is not in a correct amount.

The Court additionally held the Wife, who is totally unemployed, liable for one-half (1/2) of the indebtedness of a hospital bill with a balance in the amount of \$5,500.00.

There was a further abuse of the discretion of the Court in awarding only part of the attorney fees to the Wife, even though she was granted the Decree of Divorce, and the Husband was ordered only to pay \$300.00 towards the attorney fees and not the full amount of the attorney's fee. (TR 35)

It is submitted to this Court that the failure to award the disabled and unemployed Wife alimony, where the Husband is gainfully employed and the Wife has the custody of two (2) minor children, clearly manifests an abuse of discretion and is contrary to the holdings of this Court in any number of cases as is set forth in Turner vs. Turner, 649 P.2d 6 (Utah 1982), wherein the Court has stated:

**The purpose of alimony is to provide post-marital support. It is intended neither as a penalty nor as a reward.

This Court in English vs. English, 565 P.2d 409 (Utah 1977) stated:

The purpose of alimony is to provide support for the Wife as nearly as possible at the standard of living she enjoyed during the marriage, and to prevent the Wife from becoming a public charge.

This Court, further in the MacDonald vs. MacDonald, supra, set forth a basis for determining "the financial conditions and needs of the Wife, the ability of the Wife to procure sufficient income for herself, and the ability of the Husband to provide support".

It is submitted to this Honorable Court that in accordance with the facts evidenced before this Court, in the meager record which there is, clearly evidences that there was an acute abuse of discretion by the Court in not only not awarding alimony for her support, so that she need not become a public charge, but also in compelling the Wife to pay one-half (1/2) of the indebtedness of a \$5,500.00 debt and a substantial part of the attorney fees.

It is submitted to this Honorable Court that this Court does have the prerogative to review the evidence and to substitute its judgment for that of the Trial Court, and at the very least to reverse the judgment of the Court so that a full trial with competent counsel and adequate evidence placed in the record to allow a Court of equity to render a viable, equitable judgment.

CONCLUSION

It is submitted to this Honorable Court that the Wife has suffered a clear abuse of discretion of the Court as evidenced by the judgment of the Court, as set forth hereinabove in this Brief, and that this Court, if it finds sufficient facts in the record before it, has a right and a duty to make a partial or total remedy forthwith to end the suffering of the Wife and the children, in restoring their dignity so that they need not be wards of the State where there is a substantial asset in the home and where the Husband is substantially and gainfully employed, and to reverse the findings of the Lower Court and its judgment, and if necessary, to return the matter to a Lower Court for an additional hearing as to those matters which the Court believes it cannot fully adjudicate with the evidence presently before the Court, and that present counsel should not be required to furnish pro bono legal services necessitated by incompetent counsel in the Lower Court.