1985

Mary Helen Owen v. Robert James Owen : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the District Court abuse its discretion in the judgment and decree of divorce ordered by the Court?
2. Has the appellant followed the proper procedure for seeking a change in the District Court's decree?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Statement of Facts

Attached hereto as Exhibit A is an entire transcript of the District Court proceedings in this matter consisting of nine (9) pages. The transcript itself evidences that while no written stipulation was filed herein, nearly all of the issues determined by the Court were based upon the agreement of the parties.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The District Court's decision should not be overturned because there was no abuse of discretion.

2. The Appellant has simply changed her mind since the January 2, 1985 hearing, and is trying to avoid her own agreement.

3. The Appellant should have sought her requested remedies in the District Court through a Motion filed pursuant to URCP 60, and not by filing this Appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION SHOULD NOT BE OVERTURNED BECAUSE THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

Appellant claims the District Court abused its discretion in not awarding to Appellant alimony or an interest in her former husband's retirement plan. The transcript attached hereto as Exhibit A makes clear that neither of these items were sought by Appellant at the hearing in the District Court. A review of the entire transcript also evidences that this was not an adversary proceeding but was more in the nature of a settlement conference at which both parties appeared and indicated terms with which they were in agreement. Based upon the agreements of the parties, the Court issued its decision. The Court clearly was not abusing its discretion when it

issued the decision because the decision was based almost entirely upon terms agreed to by the parties.

The long established standard of review with respect to divorce cases was stated by this Court in Lord v. Shaw, 682 P.2d 853, 856 (Utah 1984).

In divorce cases, absent an abuse of discretion we will not substitute our judgment for that of the trial court. This Court has refused to reverse the decision of the trial court in a divorce case when the evidence does not clearly show that the trial court erred or abused its discretion. This Court accords considerable deference to the findings and judgment of the trial court due to its advantageous position. [citations omitted].

See also Jeppson v. Jeppson, 682 P.2d 69 (Utah 1984); Openshaw v. Openshaw, 639 P.2d 177 (Utah 1981); Bernard v. Attebury, 629 P.2d 892 (Utah 1981) (Supreme Court won't disturb trial court's discretion unless definite and firm conviction that court below committed clear error of judgment in weighing relevant factors); Despain v. Despain, 610 P.2d 1303 (Utah 1980) (discretionary power disturbed only in presence of clear abuse thereof); Owen v. Owen, 579 P.2d 911 (Utah 1978) (trial court decision not disturbed unless evidence so preponderates against findings that inequity or injustice resulted). This Court in Lord refused to overturn the trial court's decision since "the trial court stated sufficient reasons for its decision." 682 P.2d at 856. The trial court in the instant case also found and stated sufficient reasons for its decision and therefore should not be overturned.

II. THE FACT THAT PLAINTIFF HAS NOW CHANGED HER MIND AND SEEKS TO AVOID THE TERMS OF HER OWN AGREEMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE GROUNDS FOR A REVERSAL OF THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION.

A review of the entire transcript of the hearing in the District Court evidences that the matter was essentially a verbal stipulation in which a few items were not agreed upon, but were simply presented to the court for determination. Attached hereto as Exhibit B is an Affidavit of Frank M. Wells, counsel for the Appellant in the original proceedings. Mr. Wells' affidavit specifically explains that the Appellant:

(a) did not want any interest in the Respondent's retirement fund;

(b) did not seek nor desire any alimony support from the Respondent;

(c) did not desire possession of the home of the parties.

Based upon the transcript and the affidavit of Mr. Wells, it is clear that the Appellant, at some time following the January 2, 1985 hearing, changed her mind. This is certainly not grounds to reverse the decision and decree of the District Court.

III. THE APPELLANT SHOULD HAVE SOUGHT HER REQUESTED REMEDIES IN THE DISTRICT COURT THROUGH A MOTION FILED PURSUANT TO URCP 60, AND NOT BY FILING THIS APPEAL.

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60 provides procedures

which may be followed at the trial court level to obtain the remedies which are sought by Appellant in this appeal. Appellant's appeal at this time is improper and untimely for the reason that she has failed to exhaust her remedies at the District Court level. Appellant certainly could have chosen to bring the matter back before Judge Wahlquist pursuant to a Rule 60(a) or 60(b) motion. If Appellant had any additional information which she felt Judge Wahlquist should have received at the hearing but did not receive, such information or evidence might then have been presented. The trial judge could then properly have determined whether such additional relief was appropriate.

The Appellant's present course of action certainly attempts to work an unfairness upon the trial judge by indicating the judge abused his discretion, when in fact the judge only ordered essentially that which the Appellant consented to and requested.

Finally, Appellant's request that the Respondent be required to pay her attorney's fees on this Appeal is astounding. How is the Respondent responsible for the attorney's fees which Appellant has incurred? Respondent was not represented by legal counsel at the hearing, and essentially agreed to everything which plaintiff and her attorney presented. Appellant and her new attorney have made no attempt to seek Respondent's cooperation in any type of modification of the decree. Respondent has done

absolutely nothing to cause Appellant to incur additional attorney's fees or costs. Equity demands that Respondent not be required to pay any costs or expenses for which he is blameless.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above Respondent respectfully requests this Court to affirm the lower court's decision and decree, and dismiss this appeal. Appellant certainly should receive no award for her attorney's fees and costs incurred inasmuch as both the remedies sought and the procedures followed are improper and were certainly not necessitated by any action on the part of the Respondent.